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On the 19th July 2025 The Collingham and Local District History Society held the seventh 
annual test pit day in the garden of The Lodge, 2 Dykes End, South Collingham the home of 
Rich Roberts and Ann Hudson who kindly gave us permission to dig this years test pit at 
their home. 
 
The Lodge dates back to the early 18th century and was a two storey cottage positioned to 
the east of the current north facing front door with the original entrance door now blocked 
up and hidden behind the climbing hydrangea. There is a inglenook still in place inside the 
chimney breast but this is now bricked up at the front to form a smaller opening. This 
cottage was possibly part of a row of cottages which would line up with 6 Dykes End and 
these cottage which are now demolished would have stood where the current garage 
building stands today and still has signs of a former chimney and fireplace in the wall.  
 
In the late 18th or early 19th century the three storey east facing wing of the house was 
built complete with cellars and an entrance hall which runs front to back in the house. Also 
in the mid 19th century a further two storey extension was built to fill in the gap between 
the original old cottage and the more recent three storey wing. A large bay window  and 
porch were added later and this would have been the front of the house as this time. A 
Victorian glasshouse was added to the rear of the three storey part of the house and it is 
possible that the west brick facade was also rebuilt and evident in the differing bricks on this 
elevation. 
 
Finally in the 20th century a two storey extension was added to the south east corner to 
provide a modern kitchen and bathroom. 
 
We believe that based on the 1841 census Henry and Charlotte Hutchinson lived in the 
house, it was then lived in by John Broadbent who was the doctor in the village until his 
death in 1901. He was married three times and had eight sons one of whom succeeded him 
as doctor to the village. 
 
The next occupant was Henry Joseph Wigram who moved in 1901 and was the son of John 
Wigram who lived at The Manor House on Low Street and it is at this time the house 
became known as The Lodge. 
 
In the 20th century the house was owned by several families including the Seagrave’s, the 
Curtis’s, the Benbow’s, the Pease’s and the Allen’s. The current owners moved in in 2022. 
 
The site of our test pit on the Dykes End side of the house was chosen as there was a 16th 
century thatched cottage standing there until approximately 1900. The cottage is believed 
to have been lived in by William and Martha Holland in the 1880s and 1890s. There is a 
photograph and painting of the cottage which is included in this report below. However by 
1920 the OS map shows that the cottage has been demolished and a date stone in the 
garden wall has the date of 1902 so it seems very likely that the cottage was demolished 
just prior to this date following the death of John Broadbent in 1901. It was hoped that 
excavating in this area may shed some light on the history of this now vanished cottage.  
 
 



 
 

 
19C map showing the location of the demolished cottage   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
19C photograph of the cottage prior to demolition and the construction of the new 
boundary wall in 1902, note the position of the central brick chimney.  
 
 
Despite the forecast of heavy rain we set up our gazebos, one for coffee and cake, one for 
the washing of finds and one over the test pit location. Our test pit team consisted of Rich 
and Ann (our hosts), Lawrence, Nigel, Christine and Phil. The final position was agreed and 
we set out the 1m x 1m test pit position and recorded its position using a grid reference of 
SK82960/61356 and a “What3Words reference of Supply/Mild/Foot.  The turf was then 
carefully removed and stored in a corner of the garden so it could be replaced in the same 
order as it was removed.  Once we had removed the turf and trowelled the soil surface to 
confirm that there was nothing immediately below the lawn we completed our first Spit 
Record Form and prepared to dig the first 25cm spit.  



 
                    
Turf removed 
 
 
 
 



 
25cm Spit  
 
Digging down through the first 25cm we found we were in a layer of good garden soil with 
no particular features or layers. But we did find several pieces of Victorian/19C glazed and 
patterned pottery and terra cotta pottery one piece having letters stamped on it which was 
likely to be flower pots. There was also brick and tile fragments and pieces of lime plaster  
together with a small amount of coal pieces which showed that we were hopefully on the 
site of the old cottage.  Once we had reached 25cm the surface was trowelled level and 
cleaned ready for completing the Spit record Form for this level, whilst there were still no 
features to record the soil was turning more yellow indicating that we were getting to the 
bottom of the top soil levels.  



 
                   
 25cm spit dug and trowelled up 
 
 
 
 



 
50cm Spit 
 

Despite the heavy rain we carried on digging the next spit down to 50cm. As we dug we 
noticed that there was more building debris being excavated. In the north west corner the 
colour of the soil changed to a more yellowy colour with a lot of lime plaster fragments and 
it was suspected that this may be the floor of the old cottage beginning to show up. The 
south east corner revealed bricks which were still in situ although it was unclear what this 
could be at this stage. The finds were mainly brick fragments and pieces of lime mortar and 
render, there was also some coal fragments and one piece of early purple glazed pottery, 
one piece of cream glazed pottery and strangely one piece of what appeared to be roman 
grey ware pottery, there was one piece of 18C clay pipe stem which equates nicely with the 
date of the cottage and the pottery finds other than the roman pottery which is a bit of a 
mystery how it came to be in our excavation. The excavated surface was trowelled and 
cleaned so it could be photographed and recorded before commencing the next spit of 
excavation.  



        
                      
       Nigel standing on the cottage floor level at 50cm                 



 
55cm Spit 

 
We would have normally dug another 25cm spit before cleaning and recording our finds 
however it became clear at 55cm that we had reached the old floor surface of the 
demolished cottage and it was agreed not to dig through this but record it as it is and only 
dig down at one edge to establish the depth and construction of this floor. Also we had 
uncovered an electric cable which crossed north to south on the east side of our test pit so 
we obviously could not disturb this. Having trowelled and cleaned this surface it was 
photographed and recorded in the booklet and all the finds passed to the finds washing 
team. It was time for lunch so we all gathered under the second gazebo to eat the 
numerous cakes and drink our teas and coffees trying to avoid the worst of the rain which 
was coming down in buckets at this time.  
 



 
 
 
55cm spit showing the floor construction, electric cable & top of brick chimney base. 
 
 
 



 

 
 
 
  Coffee and cake in the rain  
 
 



75cm Spit 
 

The weather having improved after lunch we returned to the test pit to decide what to do 
next. It was agreed to initially extend the pit excavation to west and excavate down to 75cm 
to give us a section through the floor construction to establish its thickness and construction 
and confirm that the natural soil was underneath this floor construction. We also extended 
the test pit excavation to the east to try and understand what the brickwork was for. Having 
excavated this brickwork it seemed to be the base of a chimney/fireplace built of brick 
unlike the original cottage which was built in the lias stone common in the 16C cottages of 
the village. This fireplace was probably built in the 18C to replace the original open hearth 
which these earlier cottages had when originally built with the smoke from these hearths 
just percolation through the thatch and having no chimney. However due to the risk of fire 
and as these cottages were improved and updated many were altered to incorporate a brick 
built chimney either in the middle of the house where the original hearth would have been 
or attached to the gable end of the house as is the case with The White House on Low Street. 
This 75cm surface was trowelled and cleaned up for recording and photographs and that 
concluded our test pit excavations.  
 



 
 
 75cm slot dug at east side of test pit 
 
 
 
 



 
 
Base of chimney/hearth at 55cm in the eastern extension to the test pit 



 
 
Washing the finds in the rain 
 
 
 
 



Backfilling 
 

We had quite a few visitors by this time as the weather was slightly drier than the morning 
and we left the pit excavation open so people could see what we had discovered. We also 
took further measurements and records so we could re open this excavation in the future 
and be sure that we missed the electrical cable and found the brick chimney/hearth we had 
found and excavate it fully so we could understand its position and age relative to the old 
cottage. At 3pm we re filled the pit and replaced the turf and tidied up so it looked like we 
had never been there and finished off the cakes with a final cup of coffee.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 
 
Overall view of the test pit prior to backfilling note the rain dripping off the gazebo! 
 
 
 



                 
The Finds 

 
The finds which are photographed in spit level groups below tell us the storey of a Victorian 
19C garden overlaying a 18C/17C cottage floor with a 19C/18C brick built chimney/hearth 
addition, the amount of mortar and broken building materials backs up the cottage being 
demolished and the lack of stone fragments indicates that this stone was reused to build the 
garden wall which incorporates the date brick of 1902. It is intriguing that a small sherd of 
roman pottery has turned up again in one of our test pits and hopefully one day we will find 
out a bit more about the roman presence in the village. It was also noted that the depth of 
soil with archaeological finds was only 60cm before we came into natural sand and gravel, 
this is compared with 100cm in our other test pits which suggests that the eastern side of 
Collingham may have not been occupied as intensively as the the western side, the lack of 
any early medieval/Saxon pottery also backs this up. 
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After washing and photographing all the finds and writing up the Test Pit Recording Booklet 
I have now added to the back of this report. A copy of which will be available on the CDLHS 
website and at the History Centre on Swinderby Road, Collingham. 
 
Finally I would like to thank the whole of the Test Pit Team and our hosts Rich and Ann for 
all their hard work, not only on the day, which was very wet and windy, but also before and 
after the event helping me moving the gazebos and other equipment to and from the 
garden. Also to our hardy visitors who braved the weather to come and see what we were 
up to and discover what we had found in Rich and Anns garden. 
 
 
 
 
Phil Docherty 
 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 



 

 

 



 

 

 



 

 

 



 

 

 



 

 

 



 

 

 



 

 

 



 

 


